IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

TOMMY E. JOHNSON

APPELLANT

٧.

CAUSE NO. 2010-CA-00735

MARTY G. CUMBERLAND

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF NESHOBA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

CAUSE NUMBER 08-CV-0020-NS-G

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

Counsel for the Appellant:

MARVIN E. WIGGINS, JR. Attorney at Law Post Office Box 696 DeKalb, Mississippi 39328 Telephone: (601) 743-5574 Facsimile: (601) 743-5575

MSB#

ROBERT THOMAS
Alford, Thomas & Kilgore
Post Office Box 96
Philadelphia, Mississippi 39350

Telephone: (601) 656-1871 Facsimile: (601) 656-0189

MSB#

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

TOMMY E. JOHNSON

APPELLANT

V.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The Appellant herein, Tommy Johnson, hereby designates his issues to be considered by this Court. These issues are stated hereinbelow.

- ISSUE I: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISCHARGING THE JURY AND RECONVENING THE JURY TWO DAYS LATER TO CONSIDER COUNTER-COMPLAINT OF MARTY CUMBERLAND.
- ISSUE II: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT SUPERVISING THE PREPARATION OF A RECORD OF THE FIRST DAY OF PROCEEDINGS AND WHETHER THE LACK OF SUCH A RECORD OF THE FIRST DAY OF PROCEEDINGS WARRANTS A REVERSAL FOR A NEW TRIAL.
- ISSUE III: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT ALLOWING TOMMY JOHNSON TO ADMIT INTO EVIDENCE A COMPILATION OF MEDICAL EXPENSES.
- ISSUE IV: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO PERMIT COUNSEL FOR TOMMY JOHNSON TO MOVE FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT AT THE CLOSE OF THE CASE OF MARTY CUMBERLAND ON HIS COUNTER-COMPLAINT, IN DENYING THE MOTIONS FOR NEW TRIAL AND TO SET ASIDE THE VERDICT, AND IN REFUSING TO DIRECT A REMITTITUR AND/OR NEW TRIAL.
- ISSUE V: WHETHER THE VERDICTS OF THE JURY ON NOVEMBER 3, 2009, AND NOVEMBER 5, 2009, WERE AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.
- ISSUE VI: WHETHER THE VERDICTS OF THE JURY ON NOVEMBER 3, 2009, AND NOVEMBER 5, 2009, WERE THE RESULT OF BIAS, PASSION, AND/OR PREJUDICE AGAINST TOMMY JOHNSON.
- ISSUE VII: WHETHER THE JURY AWARDED RELIEF NOT REQUESTED IN THE PLEADINGS.
- ISSUE VIII: WHETHER THE ERRORS BELOW CONSTITUTED CUMULATIVE ERROR, WARRANTING A REVERSAL FOR A NEW TRIAL.

For convenience and economy of time in considering the said issues, the Appellant shall address Issues IV, V, and VI together, as the authorities and factors relative to those issues are similar. The Appellant shall address Issues I, II, III, VII, and VIII separately.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In the Circuit Court of Neshoba County, Mississippi, in Cause Number 08-CV-0020-NS-G thereof, with Hon. Marcus A. Gordon, Circuit Judge, presiding, Tommy E. Johnson [hereinafter cited as "Tommy", "Johnson", "Mr. Johnson", "the Plaintiff", and/or "the Appellant"] filed his Complaint on January 31, 2008, against Marty G. Cumberland [hereinafter cited as "Marty", "Cumberland", "Mr. Cumberland", "the Defendant", and/or "the Appellee"]. Mr. Johnson alleged that Mr. Cumberland attacked him on March 27, 2007, while in Tommy's yard in Neshoba County, and that Marty beat, kicked, and threatened to kill Mr. Johnson, producing a knife. (CP12) Tommy alleged that Marty had run from the woods toward Mr. Johnson, ripping off Tommy's shirt while kicking and beating him, and repeatedly saying "I'm gonna kill you" during the attack. (CP12) Marty allegedly then drove to the home of a local Deputy Sheriff, restating his plans to kill Tommy. (CP12)

Mr. Johnson claimed as injuries from the beating a broken nose, two (2) blackened eyes, two (2) popped ear drums with blood pouring from each ear, a fractured cheek, and a brain hemorrhage. (CP13) Taken by ambulance to Rush Hospital in Meridian, Tommy underwent CAT scans, an MRI, and other emergency treatment. As a result thereof, the Plaintiff cited medical and hospital expenses in the amount of approximately Fifteen Thousand One Hundred Thirteen Dollars and Fifty Cents (\$15,113.50. (CP13)

Tommy also claimed to suffer in body and mind, to suffer with difficulties in walking and constant severe headaches, and

to be still under a doctor's care. (CP13) Due to ongoing effects of his beating, Tommy claimed to be unable to continue the operations of his pine straw gathering business, causing him to cease operations and costing him at least Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000.00) in lost income. (CP13) Also, Tommy sought punitive damages, as a result of Marty's alleged reckless behavior, in the amount of One Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$100,000.00). (CP13-14) Finally, Mr. Johnson requested an award of an attorney's fee and for costs of other expenses to be determined. (CP14)

Served on February 4, 2008, (CP16) Marty, on March 4, 2008, filed his Answer. (CP17-20) He issued a general denial of all salient claims in the Complaint and raised as other defenses the failure to state a claim for which relief may be granted, insufficient service of process, excuse and justification, (CP17-18) and, by title only, a list of affirmative defenses. (CP17-18)

On April 22, 2008, Marty filed the "Defendant's Counter Complaint and Demand for Jury Trial", (CP21-26) essentially claiming that Tommy was at fault for Marty's loss of the affections of Mrs. Diane M. Cumberland, [hereinafter cited as "Diane" or "wife"] who had filed for divorce from Mr. Cumberland. (CP21-24) Mr. Cumberland claimed that, prior to November, 2006, he and Diane resided together as husband and wife. (CP22) He added that he had enjoyed and cherished his association and relationship with his wife, including the services of his wife, consortium, and the affections of his wife, including her companionship, society, love, and comfort. (CP22)

Marty alleged that, sometime prior to November, 2006, Tommy had pursued a course of conduct designed to establish a romantic relationship with Diane and that, due to this course of conduct, Diane moved out of the marital home and filed for divorce. (CP22-23) Marty added that Tommy's allegedly wrongful conduct caused him to lose "his wife's love, affection, and consortium." (CP23)

Marty could not state with certainty whether Tommy had acted negligently, intentionally, or with conscious, callous, malicious, and knowing disregard of Marty's rights, including either the intentional or negligent infliction of emotional distress. (CP23;24) Marty described Tommy's alleged conduct as wrongful, whether intentional, grossly negligent, or negligent. (CP23) Notwithstanding the uncertainty, Marty asserted that he had "expended substantial time and monev persistent efforts to recover his wife's love, affection and consortium, to no avail." (CP23) He claimed to have suffered, and would continue to suffer, the loss of relationship and association with Diane, "including his right to the services of his wife, consortium, the affections of his wife, including her companionship, society, love and comfort, as well as his own pain and suffering, emotional distress and mental anguish, and a loss of quality of life as quaranteed by the Constitution, laws, and treaties of the United States, and the Constitutions [sic] and laws of the State of Mississippi." (CP23)

Marty claimed other damages, including loss of property and future "legal, expert, investigative, travel, and other expenses

related to medical bills, divorce costs, attorneys fees and any other type of 'actual damages' sustained and as a direct and proximate result of" the alleged misconduct of Mr. Johnson. (CP24) Marty said that he had suffered, and would continue to suffer physically and mentally, including medical and mental sadness, humiliation, treatment expenses, due to extreme embarrassment, aggravation, annoyance, frustration, vexation, fear, worry, anxiety and loss of peace of mind", all of which was foreseeable to Tommy. (CP24) Marty sought damages adequate to compensate him for past and future damages, plus punitive damages to be awarded, along with the award of an attorney's fee, costs of court, and prejudgment interest from the filing. (CP24-25)

Tommy filed his Answer on May 27, 2008, (CP27-30) denying the claims regarding the state of Marty and Diane's union pre-November, 2006, and Marty's expenses, if any, to regain Diane's allegedly lost affections. (CP28) Tommy generally denied the rest of the Counter-complaint, (CP27-29) and affirmatively stated that Marty had lost Diane's affections through his own wrongful conduct and threatening behavior. (CP27) Tommy further stated affirmatively that any relationship between Diane'and him "did not, and could not, result in sexual activity and/or criminal intercourse and is not, nor has it ever been an illicit romantic relationship." (CP27) He admitted jurisdiction and venue. (CP27)

From June 30, 2008, until October 26, 2009, a variety of discovery proceedings were filed, along with several orders of continuance. (CP31-75) Hon. Douglas J. Graham was substituted for

Hon. Jonathan P. Mills as counsel for Mr. Cumberland, (CP33-34) and the matter was set for trial at the November, 2009, term of court, by Order entered on June 29, 2009. (CP60)

The trial commenced on November 2, 2009, and continued through November 3, 2009. (Ti;1) Testifying on November 2, 2009, for the Plaintiff were Tommy Johnson, Marty Cumberland, Diane Cumberland, Ashley Cumberland, John Lilley, (T15; Supplement to Transcript [hereinafter cited as "ST"] 1-6) Jennifer Amanda Phillips, Michael Gray, Ann Johnson, and Ashley Cumberland (T20; ST2-3;6-7). On November 3, 2009, on the Defendant's case, testimony was heard from Marty Cumberland. (T22-76) On rebuttal for the Plaintiff, testimony was provided by Diane Cumberland, (T77-86) Debbie Malone, (T86-89) and Erin Cumberland. (T89-93)

As discerned in the Transcript filed herein, testimony on November 2, 2009, was not recorded. (T15;20) The trial court stated on the record on November 3, 2009, that there had been problems with the courtroom recording equipment on November 2, 2009. (T20-21) However, there were no stenographic notes of the said testimony, and, by Order of the Supreme Court of Mississippi, entered December 20, 2010, a supplement to the transcript for November 2, 2009, was permitted. The summary of testimony of November 2, 2009, was filed via the Neshoba County Circuit Clerk on March 17, 2011. [See Order, December 20, 2010.]

Three exhibits were admitted for Mr. Johnson. (T15) Exhibit P-1 was an abstract of the Neshoba County Justice Court, indicating the plea of guilty by Marty Cumberland to a charge of

simple assault occurring on March 31, 2007. (Ex. P-1, p.2) Exhibits P-2 and P-3 were photographs of the Plaintiff, Mr. Johnson, taken shortly after the beating. (Ex. P-2, P-3, pp. 3-4)

Four exhibits were admitted for Mr. Cumberland. (T31-33; 43) Exhibits D-2, D-3, and D-4 were income tax returns for 2006, 2007, and 2008, respectively. (Ex. D-2, D-3, D-4, pp. 5-27; 28-39; 40-53) Exhibit D-5 consisted of a composite of five photographs purported to be of the area behind the residence of the Plaintiff. (Ex. D-5A, -5B, -5C, -5D, and -5E, pp. 54-58)

Before trial, the court granted Johnson's motions moved to exclude evidence regarding Johnson's insurance and, from the Cumberland's divorce action, the opinion of Chancellor J. Max Kilpatrick. (T11-13) Marty moved to preclude as hearsay certain proposed testimony as to his having been an abusive husband and regarding his alleged affairs. (T13-14) The trial court sustained both motions, subject to relevance at trial. (T13-14)

During the November 2, 2009, hearing, counsel for Mr. Johnson proffered into evidence, outside the presence of the jury, a compilation of medical expenses incurred by Mr. Johnson since 2007. (T16-18) Counsel argued that the expenses, considered with the testimony of the patient/plaintiff, raised the presumption that the bills were necessary and reasonable, subject to rebuttal by the defense. (T16) The document, a payment log received from the Department of the Navy, indicated each medical charge related to expenses incurred by Mr. Johnson, and were provided to defense counsel via discovery prior to trial. (T17)

According to counsel, the plaintiff had not gone to the doctor prior to the March, 2007, attack upon him and that the expense log was admissible, with his testimony, subject to rebuttal.

(T17-18)

Allusion to the Plaintiff's testimony was made at this time by counsel. (T17-18) However, the record was devoid of the actual testimony. (T15) The summary of testimony of March 117, 2011, indicated that Mr. Johnson had testified to having incurred significant medical expenses and would incur future medical expenses. (ST6) The trial court refused to permit the admission of the expense log. (T18-19)

At the close of Cumberland's case on his counter-complaint, counsel for Johnson moved for a directed verdict. (T76-77) The trial judge refused to entertain the motion, declaring that the motion was "not proper at this time." (T77)

During the instructing of the jury, the trial court provided instructions on assault and battery, alienation of affection, self-defense, burdens of proof, damages, and the number of jurors needed to carry a verdict. (T85-96) The court further instructed the jury as to the form of the verdict, giving Instruction D-21 covering the complaint and counter-complaint. (CP97,102-103; RE13,21-22)

The trial court gave the form of the verdict instruction after giving the others. (T110-111) The trial court then further explained to the jurors that, "in this case, you have two different lawsuits." (T111) The judge then explained the finding

of a verdict in the Johnson assault and battery case against Cumberland. (T111) The judge followed by explaining the finding of a verdict in the Cumberland alienation of affection case against Johnson. (T111-112)

During deliberations, the jury sent out two (2) notes. (T123; CP98,100; RE14,16) The first note asked if a dollar figure of \$0 was acceptable. (T123; CP98; RE14) The court replied, "Yes". (T123; CP98-99; RE14-15) The second note asked how long Mr. Cumberland had to pay the \$100 per month on the simple assault verdict. (T123; CP100; RE16) The court replied that the jury had received all the evidence in the case and that the court could not comment thereupon. (T123; 101; RE17)

Later that afternoon, on Tuesday, November 3, 2009, the jury announced its verdict, with at least nine jurors in agreement. (T124; RE23) The verdict was that, "We the jury find for the Defendant, Marty G. Cumberland." (T124; CP102; RE12) After the jury was polled, the jury was recessed, pending other trials during that week and the following week. (T125; RE24)

On Thursday, November 5, 2009, the trial court reconvened the jurors discharged on November 3, 2009, and informed them that there had been no verdict in the counter-complaint. (T126; RE25) The trial court had the jurors to retire and to consider the evidence from the trial on November 2 and 3, 2009, subject to the instructions provided on November 3, 2009, and to an additional instruction provided at that time. (T126; RE25) The court then provided an instruction as to the form of the verdict, but

different from the instruction previously given. (T127; CP103; RE18;26) This instruction was filed on November 5, 2009. (CP103; RE18) The judge then asked the foreman of the jury on November 3, 2009, Mr. Cater, if he understood the instruction and his responsibilities, and further told him that only the counter claim was to be considered. (T127; RE26)

Later on November 5, 2009, the reconvened jury announced its second verdict, agreed by at least nine jurors. (T128; RE27) After polling the jurors, the verdict was announced as being in favor of Marty G. Cumberland, against Tommy Johnson, and assessed damages in the amount of \$10,000.00. (T129; CP104; RE10;28) The issue of punitive damages was waived by Cumberland's counsel after the rendition of the second verdict and the jurors were again released. (T131) Judgments in conformity with the two verdicts were then entered. (CP106-107; RE7-8)

Tommy filed two post-trial motions. The first, for a directed verdict and to set aside the verdict, repeated the motion attempted at the close of Marty's case on his countercomplaint. (CP109-111) Tommy claimed that the evidence, along with any inferences drawn therefrom, could not support the verdict, that no wrongful conduct on Johnson's part had been proven, and that no causal connection between any conduct by Johnson and any loss by Cumberland had been established. (CP109) This motion was overruled on April 13, 2010. (CP117; RE11)

The second motion sought a new trial and/or remittitur. (CP112-115) This motion alleged that the discharge, and the

subsequent reconvening of the November 3, 2009, jury, was outside the power of the trial court and that the results thereof were improper. (CP112) The motion further alleged that the original verdict was so defective as to warrant a new trial. (CP113) Further, Johnson asserted the lack of a record of the testimony of November 2, 2009, and the refusal by the trial court to hear the motion for directed verdict at the close of the case on the counter-complaint. (CP114) Finally, Johnson requested the trial court to suggest a remittitur, with a new trial to be granted upon any rejection thereof. (CP114) This motion was overruled by Order entered March 15, 2010. (CP116; RE10)

Subsequent thereto, the notice of appeal by Johnson was timely filed herein. (CP118-119) During the process of reviewing the record, Hon. D. Joseph Kilgore, trial counsel for Johnson, wrote to Hon. Patti Duncan Lee, Circuit Clerk of Neshoba County, Mississippi. He expressed, by letter of September 2, 2010, the issue of the lack of any testimony from November 2, 2009, which involved the testimony of Johnson's witnesses on his case in chief. (CP Appendix; RE29) Hon. Douglas J. Graham, by letter of September 17, 2010, argued that no summary of such testimony had been offered and that the record was complete. (CP Appendix)

In response to a motion filed by appellate counsel for the development of the record, pursuant to Rule 10, Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure, this Court permitted the supplementation of the transcript herein. **See** Order entered December 20, 2010. The supplemental transcript was filed on March 17, 2011.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court committed error first by discharging the jurors on November 3, 2009, and then by reconvening them on November 5, 2009, without proper instruction, to consider anew the counter-complaint of Marty Cumberland. The jurors had been fully instructed at the close of the case on November 3, 2009, including a detailed verbal and written explanation of the form of the verdict. Further, the trial judge provided an additional explanation of the form of the verdict, telling jurors that they were effectly hearing two cases. This latter explanation, in layman's terms, clearly informed the jurors of their task.

Upon the receipt of the November 3, 2009, verdict finding for Marty Cumberland, with no damage amount indicated, the trial court polled the jury and acted as if the jury had ruled in favor of Cumberland on all issues, but awarded no damages. The court even instructed Cumberland's counsel to draft an order in conformity therewith. The jury was then discharged, without any cautionary instructions; had the jury simply been in recess, the court should have provided appropriate cautionary instructions.

The trial court also bears supervisory duties in ensuring the preservation of the record of proceedings. The lack of any record of the testimony of Johnson's witnesses from the entire first day of trial is manifest error, prohibits the full review of said proceedings by this Court, and denies to Johnson a fundamentally fair hearing of this appeal and of due process. Not only was Johnson denied the opportunity to admit evidence

regarding the medical expenses incurred post-attack, but he has been prejudiced by the concomitant absence from the record of the testimony offered by him as to the said expenses. The jurors were denied the information as to expenses, and this Court cannot fully review the issue, due to the lack of a record.

The Appellant would further state unto this Court that the trial court committed manifest error and abused its discretion in denying the motions for new trial, for directed verdict, to set aside the verdict, and for remittitur. The trial court further erred in refusing to permit Johnson to offer into evidence the proffered medical expense log provided by the Department of the Navy, and to which Johnson could have testified, subject to rebuttal by Cumberland.

Under the usual "manifest error" standard of review, the appeals court will generally affirm the holding of the trial judge, unless the incorrect legal standard has been applied or there is no substantial evidence to support the holding. In the instant case, this has occurred.

The amount awarded to Cumberland was not based upon substantial evidence; no explanation for this amount was cited. Further, the relevant elements of alienation of affection were not proven at trial. Thus, the correct legal standard was not followed by the jury.

By finding no assault, battery, and damage to Johnson, the jury indicated its bias, prejudice, and predisposition against Johnson. Such a finding was against the overwhelming weight of

evidence. Further, the summary language in the first verdict is indicative of this bias. Marty Cumberland's plea of guilty to the simple assault of Tommy Johnson alone justified at least nominal damages, while the photographs of the beaten 71-year-old man were proof enough of physical damage. Cumberland's testimony simply enhanced these exhibits.

Finding Johnson liable for alienation of affection, and awarding damages of \$10.000.00, also evinced bias against Johnson. This finding also was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Even Cumberland testified that, on March 27, 2007, he still thought of Johnson as a friend and had nothing against him. Had he been so distraught over the loss of his wife's affection, Cumberland would have sought remedy on his own, rather than waiting until after Johnson had filed suit. There was barely any proof of damage and no proof of misconduct by Johnson causing Diane Cumberland to leave Marty. Finally, Marty did not even ask for lost income in any pleadings, and should not be allowed such.

In light of the foregoing, this Court should reverse the decision below and render judgment for the Appellant. In the alternative, this Court should remand the cause for further proceedings below.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Assault and Battery/Complaint of Tommy E. Johnson

When beaten, Tommy was 71 years old and had operated a business packaging pine straw, along with other business interests. (ST5-6) He was married to Annette Johnson and lived in a mobile home near Philadelphia, Mississippi. (ST5) Prior to 2006, he made the acquaintance of Marty Cumberland, (T23-24) and, sometime in late 2005, he met Diane. (T24) In 2006, Tommy sold to Marty and Diane the pine straw equipment and business. (T24)

On March 27, 2007, Tommy was in the yard behind his mobile home around 4:00 a.m. to 6:00 a.m. (ST6) While in his own yard, he encountered Marty, who repeatedly stated that "I'm gonna kill you" and produced a knife with a 6-to-8-inch blade. (ST5) During the attack, Tommy received a broken nose, two blackened eyes, two popped ear drums with blood streaming from each ear, fractured cheek bones, and blood on the brain. (ST6) Johnson, who had been healthy and capable of operating an outdoor business, was no longer able to continue operating his business as a result of the beating. (ST6) He incurred substantial medical expenses, would face future expenses, and lost income. (ST6)

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