IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

TOMMY E. JOHNSON

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2010-CA-00735

MARTY G. CUMBERLAND

APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF NESHOBA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 08-CV-0020-NS-G HONORABLE MARCUS D. GORDON, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Douglas J. Graham
MSB
Settlemires & Graham, PLLC
410 East Beacon Street
Philadelphia, MS 39350
Telephone No. (601) 656-9597
Attorney for Appellee,
Marty G. Cumberland

IN THE SUPREME CORUT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

TOMMY E. JOHNSON

APPELLANT

V.

CAUSE NO. 2010-CA-00735

MARTY G. CUMBERLAND

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

hearsay rules The Trial Court the under correctly disallowed the entry into evidence of the medical records and medical expenses that Tommy Johnson tried to introduce into evidence. Tommy Johnson offered no witnesses to authenticate the medical records and expenses. Further, Tommy Johnson was allowed to testify about his injuries and the medical expenses related to those injuries. The jury decided against Tommy Johnson on his Complaint. The jury was recalled to consider the Counter-Complaint of Mary Cumberland and Tommy Johnson made no objection to recalling the jury. The jury returned with a verdict in favor of Marty Cumberland and awarded him damages in the amount of ten thousand dollars (\$10,000.00). Tommy Johnson contends that the only damages the jury considered were Marty Cumberland's lost income; however, Mr. Johnson conveniently forgets that there was testimony about the lost relationship, companionship and love of his wife. Further, there was testimony about his physical and emotional distress.

This Court should affirm the judgment of the lower court on both the complaint of Tommy Johnson and on the counter-complaint

of Marty Cumberland affirming the damages of the lower court and assess interest.

IV.

ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN DISCHARGING THE

JURY AND RECONVENING THE JURY TWO DAYS LATER TO

CONSIDER THE COUNTER-COMPLAINT OF MARTY CUMBERLAND WHEN

NO OBJECTION WAS MADE BY TOMMY JOHNSON.

Whether the trial court was correct in discharging the jury and reconvening the jury two days later to consider the Counter-Complaint of Marty Cumberland when no objection was made by Tommy Johnson. Rules 3.10 Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice, gives the Court guidance on defective verdicts when it states "If a verdict is so defective that the court cannot determine from it the intent of the jury, the court shall, with proper instructions, direct the jurors to reconsider the verdict. No verdict shall be accepted until it clearly reflects the intent of the jury." However, in the case before this court, the verdict from the jury on November 3, 2009 was clear in that it found for Marty Cumberland. The court and Tommy Johnson accepted that verdict as to his complaint. The Court did error in not sending the jury back to consider the countercomplaint filed by Marty Cumberland. However, that error does

not apply to the first verdict of the jury as it pertains to Tommy Johnson's complaint.

Rule 3.11 of the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice, states that "Within the discretion of the Court, a recess of jury deliberations may be held. The jury may be reconvened at the time and place set by the Court. In cases where the jury is not sequestered the judge shall instruct the jury as to the following: The Rule then gives the judge the six instructions that are to be given to the jurors. The Appellant is correct when he states that the judge did not give the instructions to the jury.

However, the Appellant Tommy Johnson did not object to the reconvening of the jury nor did the Appellant make any motion before the jury was reconvened for a mistrial. This Court has found that if an issue is not raised properly at trial it is then procedurally barred from arguing the issue for the first time on appeal. **Gunn v. State**, 56 So.3d 568, 572 (Miss. 2011). Further, the Appellant's failure to object or make a motion could be considered his consent and agreement to reconvening the jury and therefore, he waived the requirements under Rule 3.11 of the *Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice* and no error was committed by the Court. **Barnes v. State**, 374 So.2d 1308, 1309 (Miss 1979).

The Appellant did not object or ask for a mistrial on the verdict of November 3, 2009 and took the verdict to be a final judgment of his Complaint. Then when the jury was reconvened on November 5, 2009 to consider the Counter-Complaint, the Appellant did not object to the reconvening nor did he ask for a mistrial on that basis. Therefore, the Appellant has waived the requirements of Rule 3.11 of the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Practice or is procedurally barred from raising the issue now on appeal.

PARTIES TO SUPPLEMENT THE RECORD WHEN IT WAS FOUND THE FIRST DAY OF TESTIMONY WAS UNAVAILABLE AND WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ORDERING THE RECORD SUPPLEMENTED UNDER THE RULES WAS SUFFICIENT.

The Appellant is correct in his statement that the record was incomplete and that this court ordered that the record be supplemented. However, the Appellant was asked by the trial court to supplement the record. His failure to do so could be construed as an attempt to raise a reversible error.

Rule 10(c) of the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure states that "If no stenographic report or transcript of all or part of the evidence or proceedings is available, the appellant may prepare a statement of the evidence or proceedings from the

best available means, including recollection." Further, if the parties agree on the statement then under Rule 10(d) the parties can submit a joint statement of the case and of the issues of the appeal. The procedure in Rule 10(d) was completed by the parties after this Court ordered the parties to do so. If the Appellant did not agree with the supplemental record, then he should not have agreed with it. Further, he could have asked for a hearing under Rule 10(e) to correct or modify the record. Essential to the Appellant's argument that the record was not sufficient is that his proffer of evidence on the medical records and expenses was not included; however, his argument and description of the testimony to be presented in chambers with the Trial Court is recorded in the record. (TR 15-19) Therefore, the Court on this issue should affirm the decision of the Trial Court.

III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN NOT ALLOWING TOMMY JOHNSON TO ADMIT INTO EVIDENCE A COMPILATION OF MEDICAL RECORDS AND EXPENSES.

The appellant did seek to enter into evidence a compilation of medical records and expenses from the navy department. The court ruled that the evidence was inadmissible as hearsay because the appellant did not offer any witness to authenticate the records. Under Rule 801(c) of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence, "Hearsay is a statement, other than one made by the

declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." There are twenty-five (25) exceptions to the rule; however, during trial the Appellant did not assert any of those exceptions nor does the records qualify under any of the exceptions. Since no exception to the hearsay rule was raised, the Appellant should be barred from raising the issue at appeal. **Gunn**, 56 So.3d at 572.

The Appellant did cite <u>James v. Jackson</u>, 514 So.2d 1224 (Miss. 1987) in support of his proposition. <u>James</u> can easily be distinguished from the case at hand. The issue of whether the bills were allowed into evidence was not the issue in <u>James</u>. <u>Id</u>. The Court in <u>James</u> did not create an exception to the hearsay rule. A party cannot testify and authenticate his own medical records and expenses. Clearly, the Court in <u>James</u> allowed the bills into record but we are not told how they came into the record. <u>Id</u>. The Appellant offers no exception to Rule 801(c) nor does he offer any case in which this Court has ruled that a party can authenticate his own medical records and expenses obtained from a hospital or insurance provider.

IV. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN REFUSING TO
PERMIT COUNSEL FOR TOMMY JOHNSON TO MOVE FOR A DIRECTED
VERDICT AT THE CLOSE OF THE CASE OF MARTY CUMBERLAND ON
HIS COUNTER-COMPLAINT AND DENYING SAID MOTION AFTER THE

TRIAL AND IN DENYING THE MOTIONS FOR NEW TRIAL AND TO SET ASIDE THE VERDICT, AND IN REFUSING TO DIRECT A REMITTITUR AND/OR NEW TRIAL.

The Appellant did attempt to make a motion for directed verdict and the court responded that it was not the proper time. (TR 76). Then the Court asked counsel for the Appellant if he had any further testimony, to which his counsel stated that "we have rebuttal testimony". (TR 76). The Court responded "That's what I am asking for." (TR 76). The Appellant failed to make a motion for directed verdict after all the rebuttal testimony and the Appellee offered no further testimony. (TR 93). The Appellant failed to make a motion for directed verdict and now wants a reversal on said issue. Under Gunn, if relief is not requested at trial it cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. Id. at 572.

The Court properly denied the motion of the Appellant for additur/remittitur. Under <u>Biloxi Electric Co. v. Thorn</u> this Court found that "The damages, therefore, must be so excessive as to strike mankind, at first blush, as being, beyond all measure, unreasonable, and outrageous, and such as manifestly show the jury to have been actuated by passion, partiality, prejudice, or corruption." <u>Biloxi</u>, 264 So.2d 404, 405 (Miss 1972). The jury award in this case was ten thousand dollars (\$10,000.00). I see no reason to think that this amount of

damages is so excessive as to strike mankind as beyond all measure. This Court has found that damages in alienation of affections cases are not limited to the loss of consortium.

Gorman v. McMahon, 792 So.2d 307, 315 (Miss.App. 2001).

V. WHETHER THE VERDICTS OF THE JURY ON NOVEMBER 3, 2009,

AND NOVEMBER 5, 2009, WERE WITH THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT

OF THE EVIDENCE.

Marty Cumberland testified about his loss of his wife's affections and how that affected him. Further, the evidence presented throughout the trial by several witnesses indicated the loss and damages that Marty Cumberland suffered. Gorman states that the elements of alienation of affection claims are the wrongful conduct by the defendant, the loss of affection or consortium toward the injured spouse, and a causal connection between the wrongful conduct and the loss of affection or consortium. Id. at 421. In the trial there was testimony about Diane and Mr. Johnson's relationship and about (1) how he would stay with her while she was supposedly working for him, (2) he would take her riding in his plane, (3) and him buying her a trailer after she left Marty. The Appellant's arguments about the jury finding damages out of the thin air are offensive and without merit. The Appellant is arguing that a marriage relationship has no value.

As to the argument of the Appellant regarding the verdict in favor of Marty Cumberland on Mr. Johnson's Complaint, he provides no case law or statues as to why the jury should have found in his favor. His argument revolves around arguing the facts. However, the Appellant leaves out the facts that the morning of the incident that there was contradicting testimony as to who attacked who first. Further, he fails to point out that the testimony showed that Marty had come to Mr. Johnson's house sometime between 4:00 a.m. and 6:00 a.m. that morning and had discovered his wife's vehicle parked in the woods behind the Motor home Mr. Johnson was living in.

VI. WHETHER THE VERDICTS OF THE JURY ON NOVEMBER 3, 2009,

AND NOVEMBER 5, 2009, WERE THE RESULT OF THE EVIDENCE

BEFORE THEM.

The Appellant argues that the verdicts were a result of bias, passion, and/or prejudice against Tommy Johnson. In <u>Biloxi</u> <u>Electric Co. v. Thorn</u>, the Court stated that "the only evidence of corruption, passion, prejudice or bias on the part of the jury is an inference, if any, to be drawn from contrasting the amount of the verdict with the amount of the damages." <u>Id.</u> at 406. Again the amount of the verdict awarded by the jury in this case was minimal at best, considering the damages of Marty Cumberland losing his wife's love, companionship, and contributions to the household. There was substantial evidence

to support the jury's findings in this case. Therefore the Court should affirm the decision of the lower court as to this issue.

VII. WHETHER THE JURY AWARDED RELIEF THAT WAS REQUESTED IN THE PLEADINGS.

The Appellant in his argument on this issue states that the jury based their award of damages solely on Marty Cumberland's lost income which he states was not plead in Marty's Complaint. However, no objection was made at trial to the introduction of evidence as to Marty's lost income. This Court has stated numerous times that if there is no objection at trial, it cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. **Gunn**, 56 So.3d at 572. Enumerated by the Court of Appeals in **Williams v. State**, 2010-KA-00504-COA.

Further, the Appellant ignores all of the testimony about the loss of consortium and intentional infliction of physical and emotional distress. The evidence of lost income the Appellant claims was the couple's tax returns before the divorce and Marty's income after the divorce. That evidence could also be used to show the loss of his spouse's contributions to the marriage.

VIII. WHETHER THE ERRORS CONSTITUTED CUMULATIVE ERROR, WARRANTING A REVERSAL FOR A NEW TRIAL.

If no error is found by the Court then this issue is not relevant to the appeal. However, if an error is found in one of

the issues raised by the Appellant then the Court should find that said error is not prejudicial and a simple error and the judgment of the lower Court should be affirmed. V.

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the judgment of the lower Court. The Court properly reconvened the jury when the Appellant failed to object to the reconvening of the jury or move the Court for a mistrial. The trial court was correct in excluding the medical records and expenses from being entered into evidence under the hearsay rules.

The Appellant never made a motion for directed verdict after the conclusion of the rebuttal testimony. Therefore the lower court made no error since the motion was never made. Further the Court was correct in denying all of the post-trial motions of the Appellant.

This Court should find that the jury was correct in finding damages from the evidence presented in the trial. Further, the Appellant should be barred from raising issues on appeal that were not raised at the trial. This Court should affirm the judgment of the lower court.

SUBMITTED ON THIS, THE 16TH DAY OF SEPTEMBER, 2011